# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA FILED

#### DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH,

FEB 28 2014

Petitioner,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

VS.

Deputy

#### THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SACRAMENTO COUNTY,

Respondent.

#### CENTER FOR INVESTIGATIVE REPORTING.

Real Party In Interest

After a Published Decision of the Court of Appeal,
Third Appellate District, Case No. C072325
(Justice M. Kathleen Butz), Vacating a Judgment Entered by the
Superior Court for the County of Sacramento,
Case No. 34-2012-80001044 (Hon. Timothy M. Frawley).

### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF THE CENTER FOR INVESTIGATIVE REPORTING

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Can the public posting and access mandates of the Long-Term Care, Health, Safety and Security Act of 1973 governing citations issued to long-term health care facilities for serious violations of laws and regulations relating to patient care be reconciled with the earlier enacted general confidentiality provisions of the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act governing information obtained in the course of providing services to developmentally disabled individuals in a manner that gives effect to all of the provisions of both statutes?
- (2) If the statutes cannot be reconciled without compromising the Legislature's intent in enacting either, which statutory scheme controls?
- (3) Must the state redact information required under the Long-Term Care, Health, Safety and Security Act of 1973 to be contained in an online consumer information service system about substantiated complaints and citations assessed against long-term health care facilities to protect information obtained in the course of providing services to mentally and developmentally disabled individuals under the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act?

#### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This case involves the proper reconciliation of two statutory schemes designed to protect the state's most vulnerable populations – those residing in state licensed long-term health care facilities, and mentally and developmentally disabled individuals receiving services overseen by the state.

One of these statutes, the Long-Term Care, Health, Safety and Security Act of 1973 ("Long-Term Care Act" or "1973 Act"), specifically requires that the ultimate administrative record chronicling serious violations of law and regulations pertaining to patient care at state licensed long-term

health care facilities be publicly posted at the facility and made available to the public upon request; with only the names of patients and other individuals, except investigating personnel, redacted to protect patient privacy. Health & Safety Code §§ 1429(a)(1)(A); 1429(b); 1423(a)(2); 1439.

This statutory scheme was enacted to protect individuals residing in long-term care facilities by, in part, providing "information to the public about the citation record of facilities." Kizer v. County of San Mateo, 53

Cal. 3d 139, 143, 150 (1991). Its public posting and access provisions, along with other provisions pertaining to the issuance of citations and civil penalties, were "designed to implement the Legislature's declared public policy objective of 'assur[ing] that long-term health care facilities provide the highest level of care possible." Id. at 143; see also Health & Safety Code § 1422(a). It is a remedial statute, and as such must be "liberally construed on behalf of the class of persons it is designed to protect." California

Association of Health Facilities v. Dep't of Health Services, 16 Cal. 4th 284, 294-95 (1997) (quoting Kizer, 53 Cal. 3d at 147-48).

Four of the eight categories of facilities expressly covered by the 1973 Act are specifically designated for the care of developmentally disabled individuals. See Health & Safety Code § 1418.

The other statutory scheme at issue here – the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act and a companion provision under the Lanterman Developmental Services Act (collectively the "Lanterman Act") – governs the evaluation, protection, care and treatment of persons who are mentally ill, developmentally disabled or impaired by chronic alcoholism. Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 5001, et seq.; id. §§ 4500, et seq. A provision of the Lanterman Act, enacted in 1972 – one year before the Long-Term Care Act – provides that "[a]ll information and records obtained in the course of providing services" under specified

divisions of the Act shall be confidential. Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 5328; 4514. This "general" rule of confidentiality is followed by specific exemptions to the general rule in the code, in successive sections of the code and elsewhere. E.g., Albertson v. Superior Court, 25 Cal. 4th 796, 805 (2001).

The intersection of these statutes arose in the context of a California Public Records Act ("CPRA") lawsuit brought by Real Party in Interest The Center for Investigative Reporting ("CIR"). It sought access to citations issued by the Department of Public Health ("DPH") for serious violations of law and regulations by state owned and operated long-term care facilities for the developmentally disabled, including patient deaths directly attributable to the state facilities. After DPH produced 55 citations redacted almost entirely, and refused to produce any citations before 2007, CIR brought the instant lawsuit.

The trial court found that the Long-Term Care Act's disclosure requirements could not be reconciled with the Lanterman Act's confidentiality provisions; under well-established rules of statutory construction, it ruled that the Long-Term Care Act prevailed, and ordered DPH to disclose to CIR the citations requested. 5 Petitioner's Exhibits ("PE") 1446-1448 (Order at 9-11). The Court of Appeal vacated the judgment. In the guise of harmonizing these statutes, it held that certain information that is expressly required to be public under the Long-Term Care Act if relied on by DPH in issuing a citation must be redacted from citations involving mentally and developmentally disabled individuals receiving services under the Lanterman Act, when, and only when, those citations are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Throughout this brief the record will be cited by reference to the volume then "PE" followed by the page number (without proceeding zeroes) and line number if applicable.

requested under the CPRA. Court of Appeal Opinion ("Opn.") at 21; see also id. at 6. Specific other information required to be considered in issuing a citation, which may implicate confidential information under the Lanterman Act, must be disclosed. Opn. at 20-21.

By parsing the statutes in this manner, the Court of Appeal effectively rewrote the 1973 Act by striking out language requiring that "all relevant facts" considered by the department in determining the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed under the Long-Term Care Act "shall be documented by the department on an attachment to the citation and available in the public record." Health & Safety Code § 1424(b) (emphasis added). "Relevant facts" to be considered by the department under the Act – and disclosed to the public – are defined to include the patient's or resident's mental condition, medical condition, and history of mental disability or disorder, the risk the violation presents to the patient's or resident's mental and physical condition; as well as the facility's good faith efforts to prevent the violation, and the licensee's history of regulatory compliance. <u>Id.</u>, § 1424 (a)(1). Instead of following this statutory mandate, the Court of Appeal decided that for mentally and developmentally disabled individuals covered by the Lanterman Act, these provisions of the Long-Term Care Act will not be enforced "in PRA-request citations," although they remain in effect for all others residing in long-term health care facilities covered by the 1973 Act,<sup>2</sup> and in other contexts. Opn. at 21.

The Court of Appeal's decision does violence to both statutory schemes and, in the process, interjects substantial uncertainty into an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Indeed, DPH publicly posts on its website citations issued to state licensed nursing homes falling under the 1973 Act with all of this same information disclosed. 2 PE 299:20-26; 432-534; see also <a href="http://www.cdph.ca.gov/certlic/facilities/Page/AACounties.aspx">http://www.cdph.ca.gov/certlic/facilities/Page/AACounties.aspx</a>.

administrative process governing all long-term health care facilities throughout the state, as well as the regional centers and state departments that oversee them. If not reversed, the decision will result in the very type of "two-tiered system of enforcement" under the Long-Term Care Act that this Court refused to allow in <u>Kizer</u>, when it rejected an argument that the civil penalty provisions of the 1973 Act should only apply to private long-term care facilities, not facilities owned by government entities covered by the Tort Claims Act. 53 Cal. 3d at 148. The decision robs the most vulnerable of an already vulnerable population – mentally and developmentally disabled individuals who reside in long-term health care facilities – of important protections that the Legislature clearly intended to apply to them, while these same protections remain in effect for others covered by the 1973 Act.

Moreover, the Court of Appeal's decision sets up a compliance system – applicable throughout the state – that is simply not workable. By injecting the specter of civil liability for wrongful disclosure of confidential information under the Lanterman Act (see Welf. & Inst. Code § 5330) into the public posting and access mandates of the Long-Term Care Act, the decision puts long-term care facilities, and the state and counties charged with overseeing them, in a Catch-22. On the one hand, they must aggressively redact the citations or risk hefty civil penalties for guessing wrong. On the other hand, they face administrative penalties under the Long-Term Care Act if they do not fully disclose the citation information required by the Act. Health & Safety Code § 1429(c). This could not have been what the Legislature intended in enacting a comprehensive statutory scheme requiring the public posting of citations, while carefully protecting patient privacy.

The rules of statutory construction that control here compel the conclusion that the posting and public access mandates of the Long-Term Care Act were intended to apply uniformly to all populations residing in long-term health care facilities throughout the state, and that public disclosure of the ultimate administrative record chronicling serious violations of law at these facilities furthers the purposes of both statutory schemes – to protect vulnerable populations from actual harm.

For these reasons, and those more fully set forth below, CIR respectfully requests that the Court reverse the Court of Appeal's published decision and uphold the Legislature's declared purpose in enacting the Long-Term Care Act – deterring conduct that may endanger the well-being of patients by requiring public disclosure of citations involving all classes of persons covered by the Act. <u>Kizer</u>, 53 Cal. 3d at 150.

#### III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. The Center for Investigative Reporting and Its Reporting on Substantiated Cases of Abuse at State Run Developmental Centers.

CIR, founded in 1977, is the nation's oldest non-profit news organization. 1 PE 3:20-27. CIR Investigative Reporter Ryan Gabrielson, who made the CPRA request at issue here, is the lead reporter on CIR's investigation into, and subsequent publication of a series of news reports chronicling, cases of patient abuse, injury and death at the state's largest facilities for long-term care of developmentally disabled individuals, called "Developmental Centers." 2 PE 293:9-18. The series, titled "Broken Shield," initially was published in February of 2012 and is ongoing. Id.; 2 PE 304-372. While focusing on a number of specific abuse cases, it reported that according to the state's own records the Developmental Centers have

been the scene of 327 patient abuse cases from 2006 to 2011, with patients suffering an additional 762 injuries of "unknown origin." These injuries have included deep cuts on the patients' heads, fractured pelvises, broken jaws, busted ribs, shins and wrists, bruises and tears to male genitalia and burns on the skin the size and shape of a cigarette butt. 2 PE 293:20-28; 304-316 (Feb. 23, 2012 "Sloppy investigations leave abuse of disabled unsolved"). Despite these numbers, CIR could confirm few cases that were referred to prosecutors and fewer still resulting in criminal charges. 2 PE 293:21-18. DPH issued only 55 citations to Developmental Centers between 2007 and May of 2011. 1 PE 6:1-6; 30-165.

While the series has focused on the Office of Protective Services, whose function is to investigate allegations of crime at the Centers, CIR also has reported on citations issued by DPH against the Developmental Centers. One such news account involved a citation issued to Sonoma Developmental Center. An unredacted copy of the citation provided to CIR reflects that 11 of 27 patients in a single unit at Sonoma received significant thermal burn injuries consistent with being shot with a high-voltage probe or Taser gun. 5 PE 1388-1391; 1378:25-27. Though a whistleblower informed officials about the abuse in September of 2011, DPH did not issue a citation until June of 2012. 5 PE 1378:9-18. The redacted citation produced to CIR was devoid of all facts. 5 PE 1383-1386; see also 2 PE 300-301; 565-566 (reporting on murder of 16-year old girl at Fairview Developmental Center, DPH's belated issuance of citation, and the Center's near complete redaction of posted-citation).

# B. Department of Public Health, Department of Developmental Services and the Developmental Centers.

DPH is a state agency responsible for licensing, regulating and inspecting health care facilities in California, including the Developmental Centers which are the subject of Mr. Gabrielson's CPRA request. 1 PE 224:16-19. Through its licensing and certification department, DPH is responsible for enforcing and administering the civil penalty/citation system for all long-term care facilities in violation of the laws and regulations of this state put into effect by the Legislature through the Long-Term Care Act of 1973. 1 PE 30-165 (citations).

The Department of Developmental Services ("DDS"), which is not a party to the underlying lawsuit, is the state agency responsible for providing services to people with developmental disabilities. When this lawsuit was filed, it operated five Developmental Centers, which housed about 1,700 of the state's most severely developmentally-disabled patients, many with cerebral palsy, severe autism and mental disabilities. 2 PE 294:8-12; 403. Each of the Centers at issue holds or held licenses to operate intermediate care/developmentally disabled facilities within the meaning of Section 1418 of the Health and Safety Code, and thus is or was subject to the citation and enforcement provisions of the Long-Term Care Act of 1973. 2 PE 294:17-295:6; 374-401; Health & Safety Code § 1418.

# C. CIR's Public Records Act Request and DPH's Aggressive Redaction of Responsive Citations and Failure to Produce Any Citations Before 2007.

On May 6, 2011, Mr. Gabrielson made a written CPRA request to DPH seeking citations issued by DPH to the state's seven Developmental Centers from January 1, 2002 to the present. 1 PE 4:15-23; 19. On May 16, 2011, a representative of DPH responded to the request, stating that it is only

required to maintain citations for four years, and that any citations produced would be redacted pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code Section 5328 to remove any confidential information obtained in the course of providing services to developmentally disabled persons. 1 PE 5:3-18; 22. On June 13, 2011, DPH produced 55 citations on a disk. 1 PE 6:1-6; 30-165 (copies of printed citations). No citations were produced for years 2002-2006. Each of the 55 citations was extensively redacted, removing all information except licensee information, oblique statutory references and some factually devoid statements about the violations or rights at issue on the initial page of the citation. Even the names of the department evaluators were redacted. Id.

DPH claimed that the near blanket redactions were necessary to comply with the confidentiality provisions of Welfare and Institutions Code Section 5328 and an express exemption to the confidentiality provisions for licensing personnel under Section 5328.15. 1 PE 7:24-27; 174-176.

## D. Proceedings in the Trial Court and Court of Appeal.

On January 8, 2012, CIR filed a verified petition for writ of mandate under the CPRA and complaint for declaratory relief seeking an order compelling DPH to disclose in unredacted or minimally redacted form the previously produced "aggressively" redacted citations. 1 PE 1-177. On September 13, 2012, Respondent Court issued an 11-page order granting the petition and complaint for declaratory relief. 5 PE 1439-1450. Applying well accepted rules of statutory construction, Respondent Court found that where citations involve mental health records obtained in the course of providing services under the Lanterman Act, "DPH cannot make the citations publicly available [as required under the Long-Term Care Act] and simultaneously shield it from public disclosure." 5 PE 1446. Thus, "[w]here mental health records are involved, there is an irreconcilable conflict between

the Lanterman Act's confidentiality provisions and the Long-Term Care Act's accessibility provisions. The statutes cannot be harmonized by disclosing the citations denude of all the underlying factual information giving rise to the citation." <u>Id.</u>

Having found an irreconcilable conflict, Respondent Court went on to decide which statute prevails. In concluding that the Long-Term Care Act was the later enacted, specific act that controls the disclosure of citations, the court noted that "the ultimate purpose of both the confidentiality and the accessibility statutes is the same: to promote and protect the health and safety of mental health patients." <u>Id.</u> at 1447. "It follows, that publicly disclosing the basis of the citations is consistent with the ultimate purpose of the Lanterman Act to promote the health and safety of patients. The converse is not true. Withholding such information undermines the public's interest in protecting patients." <u>Id.</u>

Respondent Court also rejected DPH's alternative theory that disclosure was governed by the later enacted exceptions to the confidentiality provisions for licensing personnel contained in Sections 5328.15 and 4514(n) of the Welfare and Institutions Code. <u>Id.</u> at 1448. These provisions "were intended to authorize disclosure to licensing personnel conducting licensing duties, and not to supersede the public inspection provisions of the Long Term Care Act's citation system." <u>Id.</u>

On October 26, 2012, DPH filed a Petition for Extraordinary Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal. On November 21, 2012, the Court of Appeal issued an order granting the alternative writ. On September 18, 2013, after full briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal (Butz, J.) issued a peremptory writ of mandate directing Respondent Court to vacate its judgment and ruling and to enter a new one that directs DPH to produce to

CIR the requested citations in accordance with the standards set forth in the opinion and to grant declaratory relief in favor of CIR. Opn. at 25. The Court of Appeal held that the Long-Term Care Act and the Lanterman Act could be harmonized by allowing disclosure of certain information that is required to be considered by DPH in issuing a citation under the Long-Term Care Act, while prohibiting the disclosure of other information where disclosure implicates mentally and developmentally disabled individuals covered by the Lanterman Act's confidentiality provision. Opn. at 19-22; see also id. at 21 ("The patient's or resident's mental, physical, and medical conditions, history of mental disorder, as well as the risk the violation presents to the mental and physical condition, are not disclosable in PRA-requested citations, in light of the mental health-based confidentiality provisions of the Lanterman Act.").

An apt description of the majority's opinion is set forth in the dissent:

Implicitly recognizing that sections 5328 and 4514 of the Lanterman Act conflict with section 1423, 1424, and 1439 of the Long-Term Care Act, the majority 'harmonizes' these provisions by holding that the Long-Term Care Act controls over the Lanterman Act on the issue of 'describ[ing] with particularity the nature of the violation' (Health & Safety Code, § 1423, subd. (a)(2)), but the Lanterman Act controls over the Long-Term Care Act on the issue of setting forth other 'relevant facts,' including the patient's or resident's 'medical' and 'mental' condition, his or her 'history of mental disability or disorder,' and 'the risk that the violation presents to [his or her] mental and physical condition.' (Health & Safety Code, § 1424, subds. (a), (b)(1)-(3).) Thus, under the guise of bringing harmony, the majority opinion does violence to two statutory enactments—carving out of the Lanterman Act an exception allowing public citations to include an unredacted description of the nature of the violation, and severing from the Long-Term Care Act the requirement that the public record contain the aforementioned 'relevant facts.'

Dis. Opn. at 1 (Hoch, J., dissenting).

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