In the Supreme Court of the State of California

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH,

Petitioner,

٧.

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO,

Respondent,

CENTER FOR INVESTIGATIVE REPORTING,

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S214679

SUPKEME COURT

MAY 3 6 2014

Frank A. McLaure Cler

Decuty

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C072325
Honorable Harry E. Hull, Jr., Acting Presiding Judge
Honorable M. Kathleen Butz, Justice
Honorable Andrea Lynn Hoch, Justice
Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 34-2012-8000104
Honorable Timothy M. Frawley

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE LONG TERM CARE ACT AND LANTERMAN ACT SHOULD BE HARMONIZED TO EFFECTUATE THE LEGISLATURE'S INTENT IN ENACTING EACH STATUTE.

The LTCA and Lanterman Act should be harmonized to give effect to the purposes of each statute. Both statutes seek a common purpose—"to promote and protect the health and safety of mental health patients"—but they approach that purpose from "opposite directions." (Opn. at p. 18.) The LTCA protects patients by requiring the public disclosure of care facilities' violations of law, and the Lanterman Act provides strict confidentiality protections for information relating to services provided to patients with mental illness or developmental disabilities. (Opn. at p. 18.) The purposes of both statutes can be achieved by harmonizing their provisions to require the public disclosure of citation reports describing the

nature of a facility's violations of law, while simultaneously requiring the redaction of information in those citation reports concerning individual residents' identities and mental, physical, and medical conditions and histories.

A. Legal Principles Governing Harmonization of Potentially Conflicting Statutes

The "fundamental purpose" of statutory construction is "to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law." (People v. Pieters (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898.) Thus, when construing two potentially conflicting statutes, the Court should "strive to effectuate the purpose of each by harmonizing them, if possible, in a way that allows both to be given effect." (Chavez v. City of Los Angeles (2010) 47 Cal.4th 970, 986; see also Pacific Palisades Bowl Mobile Estates, LLC v. City of Los Angeles (2012) 55 Cal.4th 783, 805 ["A court must, where reasonably possible, harmonize statutes, reconcile seeming inconsistencies in them, and construe them to give force and effect to all of their provisions"].) Accordingly, "[a]ll presumptions are against a repeal by implication," and in favor of harmonization. (Pacific Palisades Bowl Mobile Estates, LLC v. City of Los Angeles, supra, 55 Cal.4th at p. 805; see also ibid. ["Absent an express declaration of legislative intent, we will find an implied repeal 'only when there is no rational basis for harmonizing two potentially conflicting statutes, and the statutes are "irreconcilable, clearly repugnant, and so inconsistent that the two cannot have concurrent operation"" (citations omitted)].)

B. The Statutes Should Be Harmonized to Effectuate the Purposes of Each.

The LTCA and Lanterman Act should be harmonized because the statutes share a common purpose and do not pose any direct, irreconcilable conflict with each other.

1. The Long Term Care Act protects patients by promoting public accountability for facilities.

The LTCA protects the health and safety of patients or residents in long-term health care facilities by, among other things, providing that citations issued by Public Health to such facilities are public records that are available to the public under the CPRA and must be posted "in plain view" in the facility for 120 days after they are issued. (Health & Saf. Code, §§ 1429, subd. (a); 1439.) These requirements promote public accountability by providing information to residents, their families, advocacy groups, and the general public that helps them determine which facilities are better—and which are worse—at protecting the health and safety of their residents. These public accountability provisions also provide incentives for facilities to self-regulate. Central to these requirements is the notion that the citation, as a public record, should inform interested persons of the specific nature of the facility's violation of law—i.e., what the facility did (or failed to do), and how that violation harmed or posed a risk of harm to the facility's residents.

2. The Lanterman Act protects patient confidentiality.

The Lanterman Act protects individuals with mental illness and developmental disabilities from the potential stigma and shame associated with their conditions by making information obtained in the course of providing services to these extremely vulnerable individuals confidential,

subject only to limited, narrowly tailored exceptions. (Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 4514, 5328, 5328.15.) These confidentiality provisions are extremely important because "public exposure, or even disclosure to limited numbers of government representatives, may have a chilling effect on patients' efforts to undergo these treatments." (Aden v. Younger (1976) 57 Cal.App.3d 662, 680.)

In addition, the stigma from public disclosure may sabotage the effectiveness of treatment of mental illness. In a 1996 report analyzing the services for the mentally ill in California, the Assembly Subcommittee on Mental Health Services found that

[t]here is persuasive evidence indicating that the mental patient is stigmatized in numerous ways while he is in, and after he is released from the hospital. There are indications that stigma works to prevent the ex-patient from succeeding in society—not only because of the way others see him, but because of the way he sees himself.

(App., DPH 1010 [Subcommittee on Mental Health Services Report, Assembly Interim Committee on Ways and Means, The Dilemma of Mental Health Commitments in California: A Background Document (Nov. 1996)] p. 57.) The Assembly Subcommittee on Mental Health Services also noted that, after a patient is released from the hospital, "you don't have any confidence in yourself. You're scared." (*Ibid.* [quoting a returning mental patient's description of the difficulty adjusting to life outside an institution].) Indeed, there are indications that the societal stigma attached to being a mental health patient may be even more debilitating than the stigma of being a criminal. (*Ibid.*) Therefore, the Lanterman Act's strict confidentiality provisions are essential both to encourage mental health patients to seek treatment and to help ensure that such treatment, once sought, will be effective.

3. The statutes can be harmonized to effectuate the purposes of each.

Here, the statutes can be harmonized, and the purposes of each can be given effect, by requiring the redaction of core Lanterman-protected information from citations before they are made public pursuant to the LTCA and CPRA. The purposes of the Lanterman Act's confidentiality provisions are effectuated by redacting essential Lanterman-protected information, which includes "[t]he patient's or resident's mental, physical, and medical conditions, history of mental disability or disorder," and "the risk that the violation presents to that mental and physical condition." (Opn., p. 21.) The purposes of the LTCA's public disclosure provisions, meanwhile, are given effect by requiring the public disclosure of the core facts concerning the nature of the violation—i.e., "what was the harm, what was the abuse, what was the lack of respect or dignity afforded, and what was the action that the facility did or failed to do." (Opn. at p. 21.)

This harmonization is consistent with both statutes. First, the redaction of Lanterman-protected information from citations is consistent with Health and Safety Code section 1439 of the LTCA. Section 1439 provides that citations are "public record[s] within the meaning of" the CPRA, and accordingly are "open to public inspection pursuant to the provision" of the CPRA. (Health & Saf. Code, § 1439.) The CPRA, meanwhile, expressly shields from disclosure any "public records exempt from disclosure by express provisions of law." (Gov. Code, § 6253, subd. (b); see also *id.*, § 6253, subd. (a) [public records are subject to inspection only "after deletion of the portions that are exempted by law"]; *id.*, § 6254, subd. (k) ["[N]othing in this chapter shall be construed to require the disclosure of . . . records, the disclosure of which is exempted or prohibited pursuant to federal or state law . . ."].) Here, the Lanterman Act prohibits the disclosure of information and records obtained in the course of

providing services to mentally ill and developmentally disabled patients. (Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 4514, 5328, 5328.15; *Gilbert v. Superior Court* (1987) 193 Cal.App.3d 161, 165, 169.) Thus, the LTCA, by invoking the CPRA, directly contemplates the redaction of information exempted by law from disclosure, including information protected under the Lanterman Act. And there is nothing in the LTCA that requires the disclosure—or prohibits the redaction—of otherwise confidential information.

Second, to the extent that the statutes might appear to conflict, any tension can be resolved by construing the LTCA and the Lanterman Act to create implied exceptions to each other. (Looney v. Superior Court (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 521, 536 [harmonizing statutes by construing one as creating an implied exception to the other, where applying the literal language of both would undermine the intent of the legislature and the court's harmonization "serves the legislative purposes of both statutes"]; see also Moran v. Superior Court (1983) 35 Cal.3d 229, 237-238 [recognizing an implied exception where applying the literal language of the statute would have consequences inconsistent with the legislative purpose].) Thus, the Lanterman Act should be construed to create an implied exception to the LTCA that requires the redaction of information concerning patients' mental, physical, and medical conditions and histories from citations before they may be disclosed to the public. Similarly, the LTCA should be construed to create an implied exception to the Lanterman Act that allows the disclosure of non-patient-specific information concerning the nature of a facility's violation.

Third, the Legislature recently made clear that it understood and intended the Lanterman Act to require the redaction of Lanterman-protected information from citation reports before they are made public. Specifically, Senate Bill (SB) 1377, enacted on September 22, 2012, amended the Lanterman Act to add Welfare and Institutions Code sections 5328.15,

subdivision (c), 4514, subdivision (v), and 4903, subdivision (h). These sections, both individually and collectively, provide an exception to the Lanterman Act under which a "protection and advocacy agency," as defined by statute, may access an "unredacted citation report," but must keep this information confidential. (Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 4514, subd. (v), 4903, subd. (h), & 5328.15, subd. (c) [emphasis added].) These amendments would be pointless if unredacted citation reports containing Lanterman-protected information were already available to the general public under the LTCA and/or CPRA.

The legislative history of SB 1377 further demonstrates the Legislature's understanding of the interaction between the LTCA and Lanterman Act. Prior to SB 1377, a protection and advocacy agency could access records without patient consent only if, in accordance with Welfare and Institutions Code section 4903, subdivision (e), the agency had probable cause to believe that the health or safety of an individual was in serious and immediate jeopardy, or in a case of death of an individual with a disability. (CIR Request for Jud. Notice in Ct.App., Exh. 1 [Senate Bill Analysis, p. 5].) If the protection and advocacy agency did not have probable cause, Public Health was required to redact the citations before producing them because the citations contained Lanterman-protected information. (*Id.* at p. 10.) Accordingly, SB 1377 shows the Legislature's understanding and intent that, where the Lanterman Act and LTCA intersect, Lanterman-protected information must be redacted before citations are disclosed to the public.

CIR's arguments against harmonizing the statutes are unavailing. (Opening Brief at pp. 33-36.) First, CIR asserts that the plain language of the LTCA requires that citations be publicly posted without redaction. (Opening Brief at pp. 33-34, citing Health & Saf. Code, § 1429, subds. (a) & (b).) But CIR is incorrect, as nothing in section 1429 prohibits the

redaction of Lanterman-protected information, or other privileged or confidential information, prior to posting citations.

Second, CIR cites Lolley v. Campbell (2002) 28 Cal.4th 367, 379, and Jones v. The Lodge at Torrey Pines Partnership (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1158, 1171, for the proposition that the Legislature's intent should not be inferred from a later-enacted law. (Opening Brief at p. 34.) But those cases apply to unenacted statutes, not to an enacted statute as is the situation here.⁶

Third, CIR argues that SB 1377 was merely a clarification and conferred no new rights. According to CIR, protection and advocacy agencies already had a right to obtain unredacted citations under Welfare and Institutions Code section 4903, subdivision (b), but further clarification was required because Public Health was violating the law by delaying the production of unredacted citations. (Opening Brief at pp. 34-36.) CIR's argument is beside the point, however, because regardless of whether protection and advocacy agencies had or should have had a pre-existing right to unredacted citations under section 4903, it is clear that the Legislature, in enacting SB 1377, understood and intended that the *general public* had no such right.

///

111

⁶ "As evidences of legislative intent they [unpassed bills] have little value." Lolly v. Campbell, supra, 28 Cal.4th at p. 379. The full quotation from Lolly, which CIR truncates in its brief, reads "The declaration of a later Legislature is of little weight in determining the relevant intent of the legislature that enacted the law . . . [T]he statute presently in effect [is binding], not . . . a legislative statement of intent that failed to become law." (Ibid.)

C. The Information Practices Act Provides an Additional, Independent Basis for Redacting Personal Information from Citation Reports

The IPA provides an additional, independent statutory basis for redacting certain types of personal information from citations before they are disclosed to the public. Specifically, the IPA prohibits state agencies from disclosing any "personal information"—which is defined as "any information . . . that identifies or describes an individual, including but not limited to, his or her name, social security number, physical description, home address, home telephone number, education, financial matters, and medical or employment history"—unless it is specifically authorized by Civil Code section 1798.24. (Civ. Code, §§ 1798.24, 1798.3, subd. (a).)

The IPA's protections are not as broad as the Lanterman Act's, as the IPA covers only "personal information," while the Lanterman Act covers all information and records obtained in the course of providing services. Nonetheless, the IPA covers a large amount of Lanterman-protected information—including a patient's "medical . . . history" (Civ. Code, § 1798.3, subd. (a))—and the IPA's protections are extremely strict because they are derived from the California Constitution's explicit right of privacy that operates against private and governmental entities. (Gilbert v. City of San Jose (2003) 114 Cal. App. 4th 606, 613, citing Cal. Const., art. I, § 1; see also Civ. Code, § 1798.1 [right to privacy is a "personal and fundamental right"]; id., § 1798.1, subd. (c) ["In order to protect the privacy of individuals, it is necessary that the maintenance and dissemination of personal information be subject to strict limits"].) The Legislature enacted the IPA "to prevent misuse of the increasing amount of information about citizens which government agencies amass in the course of their multifarious activities, the disclosure of which could be

embarrassing or otherwise prejudicial to individuals or organizations." (*Jennifer M. v. Redwood Women's Health Center* (2001) 88 Cal.App.4th 81, 88.) Further, the IPA states that its provisions "shall be liberally construed so as to protect the rights of privacy arising under this chapter or under the Federal or State Constitution." (Civ. Code, § 1798.63.)

While the IPA permits the disclosure of otherwise protected personal information "pursuant to the [CPRA]" (Civ. Code, § 1798.24, subd. (g)), the CPRA shields from disclosure "public records exempt from disclosure by express provisions of law" such as the Lanterman Act. (Gov. Code, § 6253, subd. (b); see also *id.*, §§ 6253, subd. (a), 6254, subd. (k).) Thus, the CPRA does not weaken the IPA's protections for personal information that is protected under both the IPA and the Lanterman Act.

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